Appendix (Abbreviated by Court Order May 22, 2024)	

I.) Table of Authorities

Cases:

Cabaniss v. Cabaniss, 464 A. 2d 87, 91 (DC 1983)

Family Federation for World Peace v. Moon, 129 A. 3d 234 (DC 2015)*

Glicken v. Bradford, 35 FRD 144, 151 (1964)

Grayson v. AT&T Corporation, 15 A.3d 219, 229-235 (2011)

Greenpeace, Inc. v. Dow Chemical Co., 97 A. 3d 1053, 1061 (DC 2014)

Halbach v. Great-West Life, 561 F. 3d 872, 877 (8th Cir. 2009)

He Depu v. Yahoo! Inc., 950 F. 3d 897,901 (D.C. Cir 2020)

Hooker v. Edes Home, 579 A. 2d 608 (DC 1990)*

In re Estate of Reilly, 933 A. 2d 830, 839 (DC 2007)

Juul v. Rawlings, 153 A. 3d 749 (DC 2017)

Land v. Board of Education, 781 NE 2d 249, 257-8 (III S. Ct. 2002)

McPherson v. DC Housing Authority, 833 A. 2d 991, 995 (D. C. 2003)*

United States Trust Co. v. Commissioner, 296 U.S. 481, 487 (1936)

Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 653 (1990)

Williams v. United States, 311 A. 3d 308, 312-314 (D.C. 2024)

Zanders v. Baker, 207 A. 3d 1129, 1141 (D.C. 2019)

Statutes:

Uniform Trust Code (UTC) 19-1301 et. seq. especially at:

DC Code § 19–1301.03 (13)

DC Code § 19–1301.03 (16)

DC Code § 19–1304.05 (c)

DC Code 19-1304.13

DC Code 19–1310.01(a)

DC Code 19–1310.01(b)(9-10)

Nonprofit Corporations Act (NCA), DC Code 29-401 et. seq. especially at:

DC Code 29-410.03

DC Code 29-412.05(c)

DC Code 42-1101(4)

Rental Housing Conversion and Sale Act 42-3401 et. seq. especially at:

DC Code 42-3401.01-03 (Findings, Purposes, Definitions)

DC Code § 42–3401.03 (17)

DC Code 42-3404 (Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act ("TOPA"))

DC Code 42-3405.11 (Statutory Construction)

Other Authorities

Superior Court Rules of Civil Procedure especially at: Rule 24 Intervention

II.) Appeals Are From Final Orders

These consolidated appeals are taken from final orders denying Appellant's Motions to Intervene and Reconsider that denial in Case No. 2022-CA-004492-B, District of Columbia v. Janet Keenan Housing Corporation ("JKHC"), hereafter, "the District's case" (Appendix ("App.") Items I. A and C). Additionally, Appellant appeals from Final Orders of Judgement in Case No. 2023-CAB-006168, Peter Farina v. Janet Keenan Housing Corporation, hereafter "the Appellant's case" (App. II.B). These orders dispose all Parties' claims thereby establishing the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court.

III.) <u>Issues for Review</u>

I.) In the District's case

A.) Did the trial court commit reversable errors in denying Appellant's Motion to Intervene, and his Motion to Reconsider that denial, as a matter of right and/or

- "special interest" under the District's Uniform Trust Code ("UTC"), the Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA), or common law (See, *Grayson v. AT&T Corporation*, 15 A.3d 219, 229-235 (2011))?
- B.) Given the court's knowledge of a third-party sales contract for JKHC's property ("Property" or "House" or "VHH"), did the trial court commit reversable error in denying Appellant's motion to intervene, and his motion to reconsider that denial, as a matter of right and/or interest under the District's Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act ("TOPA")?
- C.) Did the trial court commit reversable error in concluding that sale of JKHC's Property as called for in the Appellees' settlement agreement to a not-tax-exempt buyer with no intention of preserving it for affordable housing, meet the statutory and case law requirements of *cy pres*?
- D.) Did the trial court commit legal or factual errors and/or otherwise abuse its discretion in,
- 1.) Finding without specific evidence that the intended recipient organization of the sale profits is allowable when, according to the District's property tax records, it is not based in the District and does not own any real property in the District?
- 2.) Finding without evidence that the "greater positive impact" for preserving affordable housing in the District (transcript, 09/29/2023, p. 18) would be to allow the sale of JKHC's charitable housing to a not-tax-exempt, for-profit buyer rather

than transfer that housing for the cost of its debts to another District-based nonprofit housing organization?

- 3.) Failed to find, because it did not inquire, whether a "person that is a member or otherwise affiliated with [JKHC would] receive a direct *or indirect* financial benefit in connection with [the] disposition of [JKHC's asset who is not] a charitable corporation or an unincorporated entity that has a charitable purpose (emphasis added)?
- II.) In the Appellant's case,
- A.) Did the trial court legally error in failing to find that Appellant had statutory or common law standing to enforce his breach of trust claim against JKHC?
- B.) Did the trial court legally error in concluding that Appellant's pre-existing TOPA right to match the contract price for JKHC's property was "extinguished by its Consent Order" in the District's case (09/29/2023) under the District's "sale" exemption statute and this Court's analysis of it in *Juul v. Rawlings* (2017)?

IV.) Proceedings and Depositions of the Cases Below

I.) The District's case: In September 2022, the District of Columbia, by and through its Attorney General acting on Appellant's information but not his behalf, brought suit against JKHC for violations of the District's Nonprofit Corporations Act ("NCA") including its intention to sell its charitable housing, and Appellant's home for 33 years, to a private, out-of-town, market-rate buyer against its

corporate purposes and the District's cy pres law without court approval. When Appellant learned his housing might indeed be sold to the contracted buyer through a settlement agreement, he sought to intervene to block the sale and put the house into receivership. The court denied his motion to intervene, his motion to reconsider, and on September 29, 2023, approved the settlement agreement allowing the sale and dismissed the District's case. Appellant timely appealed. II.) Appellant's case: Immediately after filing that appeal, Appellant filed his own action against JKHC for breaches of the District's Uniform Trust Code ("UTC") and Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act ("TOPA"). He also sought a restraining order on the sale of his housing pending the outcome of his appeal of the District's case. The same court that heard the District's case took Appellant's case initially allowing attorneys for the District to observe the proceeding and engage with the court as requested. Over the next several months, the court conducted a series of hearings, approved motions by appellees to consolidate the cases, and, over Appellant's opposition, expedite a trial on the merits. The relevant results are that the court denied Appellant's request for a restraining order and on January 11, 2024, ruled from the bench against Appellant's claims for breach of the UTC and TOPA. The court summarized its rulings in a written Final Judgement later that day. Appellant again filed a timely appeal.

V.) Facts Relevant to the Issues for Review

The factual background is as recounted by the Attorney General for the District of Columbia in his complaint and supporting exhibits in *District of Columbia v. Janet Keenan Housing Corporation*, 2022-CA-004492-B, September 30, 2022 (the "District's case") that included and arose from Appellant's "Declaration" of October 3, 2022 and, additionally, as Appellant recounts in the "Background" of his Motion to Intervene submitted July 30, 2023.

To summarize those of more significant relevance, Appellant has for over 35 years been a low-income paying tenant (DC Code 42-3401.03 (17) and "head-ofhousehold" of "Victor Howell House" ("VHH"), an unincorporated group of tenants functioning as a single low-cost household for low-income persons in the District of Columbia (the "District" or "DC") at 1304 Euclid St NW, the "Property" (or "House") at the center of these two cases. In 1999 the private owner of the Property indicated his intention to sell it. In early 2000 Appellant met with some volunteers to whom he expressed his intention to have VHH acquired by a new owner that would hold the Property's title and use money that he was paying to the current owner for the benefit of himself and other by preserving VHH as "self-run" affordable housing. With Appellant's consent and participation as an initial director the Janet Keenan Housing Corporation ("JKHC") was formed later in 2000 as a nonprofit charitable business organization in the District receiving soon after 501c3 tax-exempt status from the US Internal Revenue Service ("IRS").

At the end of 2000 JKHC did buy the Property mostly with \$125,000 provided as a conditional grant in the form of forgivable loan from the Enterprise Foundation ("Enterprise") "to acquire the Victor Howell House located at 1304 Euclid Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. ...and... continue its use as...permanent rental housing" (Appellant's case, Pltf. Ex. E, p. 1-2, emphasis added) for individuals "at or below 50% Median Income" that "shall run independently as a self-run household" with Appellant, a low-income tenant himself, acting as "Head-of-Household" (Pltf. Ex. D, "Memorandum of Understanding" (MOU), required for the Enterprise funding, p. 1/9 at I.A.2. and 4., respectively). In or about 2012, JKHC defaulted on and returned \$37,000 of Enterprise's conditional grant (for maintaining poor housing conditions) and entered the other \$88,000 as revenue in its 2012 IRS 990-EZ filing (Appellant's case, Pltf.'s Ex. J, line 8). In 2018, JKHC was cited by the District for numerous housing code violations and took out a \$100,000 loan in 2019 to repair housing code violations, all of which leading to its present financial state. But, rather than transfer the Property for the cost of its debts, currently estimated to be less than \$200,000 (District's Mot. 06/25/24, Tab 7), to another nonprofit willing to preserve its purpose (something it could have done in 2016 when it had no significant debt), JKHC decided in 2022, against its corporate purposes and restrictions, and trust obligations, to sell VHH for profit buyer with no intention of preserving its affordable housing. In September 2022, JKHC and Appellant

exchanged District of Columbia Department of Housing and Community

Development ("DHCD") "Form 1" and "Form 2", (Pltf. Ex. H and B,
respectively). Appellant also learned of the pending closing on the sale of the
House to a for-profit buyer set for October 7, 2022. JKHC did not send Appellant
the required "Written Offer of Sale" as prescribed by DC Code 423404.09(c)(2)(A) by providing him DHCD "Form 3A" ("Offer of Sale and Tenant
Opportunity to Purchase with a Third Party Sale Contract") (Appellant's case,
transcript 12/13/2023, p. 34-35).

As noted above, the District, in its own behalf, forced JKHC into court in late September 2022 when it refused to "stand still" in its sale of VHH pending its review. The court granted the District's motion for stay of the sale that included a stay of Appellant's TOPA rights and process. Many months later, Appellant learned indirectly that the District was likely to approve the Property's sale in a settlement agreement with JKHC. He subsequently filed in July 2023 his "Motion to Intervene" (without a formal complaint form) to stop the sale "for being unlawfully against [JKHC's corporate] purposes, its beneficiaries' interests as well as public interest and policy." (Motion to Intervene, p. 1) That motion was denied by the Trial Court on August 24, 2023 stating that Appellant's Motion did not conform to the Court's Rules of Civil Procedure, was "untimely" and, without explanation, that Appellant lacked standing to intervene. Appellant filed a Motion to

Reconsider on September 18, 2023 which was denied with the Trial Court's Consent Order and dismissal of the District's case September 29, 2023. Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on October 3, 2023.

On October 7, 2023, Appellant filed his own suit against JKHC ("Appellant's case") alleging breaches of the District's Uniform Trust Code or "UTC" (DC Code §§ 19-1301.01 – 19-1311.03) and Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act or "TOPA" (DC Code §§ 42-3404.01 – 42-3404.14). Included in his complaint was a motion to restrain the sale of the house pending the outcome of his litigation. Appellant's claims against JKHC along with his motion to legally stay the sale of the Property were denied by the Trial Court with its Final Order of January 11, 2024. Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal of that order on January 13, 2024. This Court granted Appellant's request to consolidate his appeals on February 11, 2024.

V.) Arguments

Opening Statement

Appellant came to the court seeking to preserve VHH as affordable housing either for himself and others by enforcing the obligations of JKHC that held it in charitable trust or by acquiring the house himself. The court however approved a settlement agreement in the District's case and entered judgements in Appellant's case that negated both of those possibilities. Appellant now seeks this Court's

review and reversal of the lower court's orders for the errors alleged below or any other reason(s) the Court finds in the interest of justice. Toward that end and with apologies for his drafting errors herein he prays the Court construes his arguments as liberally as may be allowed a pro se litigant with no formal training or comparable litigative experience and staff support as Appellees.

Appellant incorporates by reference the District's Complaint of September 30, 2022 and its supporting exhibits. Additionally, he incorporates by reference his July 30, 2023, Motion to Intervene in that case (Exhibit A, below), the court's denial of that motion, Aug. 24, 2023 (App. I.A), his Motion to Reconsider 09/18/2023 (Exhibit B, below), and the court's denial of that motion in its 09/29/2023 Consent Order, App. I.C). Appellant asserts the facts are as recounted in those documents and elsewhere in this Court's record. Of particular importance for purposes of these appeals are the following.

As noted above, Appellant attempted to Intervene in the District's case prior to the Appellees submission of a settlement agreement. The court denied that motion for procedural error (lack of a formal complaint), timeliness, and lack of standing (Order at App. I.A). The court later denied Appellant's Motion to Reconsider that Order without addressing the elements of that motion (Consent Order at App. C). Rather, the court took the position that, in so many words, Appellant should not be given the opportunity to challenge the Property sales

contract because of the financial distress JKHC is in (See App. pdf p. 21). That decision, driven by the Appellees themselves, did result in further litigation with Appellant's suit against JKHC and these appeals. (Appellant informed the court in December 2023 and this Court in previous filings, he is fully prepared to resolve these matters in a manner fully consistent with Appellees' purposes and obligations if they would just let him (see, Mallios Letter, Exhibit E, p. 84 below).

Appellant believes the question of his standing is a threshold issue in both matters and will focus much of his argument below on that subject. Should this Court find Appellant did/does have standing but has questions about the procedural defects or timeliness of his Motion to Intervene, he refers the Court to his answers in his Motion to Reconsider at Exhibit B, p. 48, below.

JKHC was incorporated in the District August 31, 2000, as an IRS 501c3 nonprofit charitable corporation where it is subject to the Nonprofit Corporations Act ("NCA") and "the rules relating to charitable trusts" (*Family Federation v. Hyun Jin Moon*, 129 A. 3d 234, (D. C. 2015) at footnote 15). JKHC's Articles of Incorporation state its "purposes" are to "*preserve* and promote affordable housing in the District of Columbia" (District's Complaint Ex. A, Articles at "third", emphasis added). It's Articles do not say, "provide affordable housing programming" (Consent Order, App. pdf p. 35). Importantly, JKHC's bylaws require that it "shall not be operated for pecuniary gain or profit." (District's

Complaint Ex. E, Bylaws at 2.2.(a)). In 2000, JKHC accepted from the Enterprise Foundation a forgivable loan / conditional grant of \$125,000 "to acquire the Victor Howell House located at 1304 Euclid St NW...to continue its use as...permanent rental housing" for "low-income individuals" (Appellant's case Trial Court Exhibits E, "Enterprise Document" and D, "Memorandum of Understanding", respectively). In 2013, JKHC submitted IRS Form 990-EZ (2012) indicating approximately \$88,000 income due to Enterprise loan being forgiven (Appellant's Trial Court Pltf. Exhibit J). "On September 21, 2022, JKHC entered into a contract for sale of the Property...with a third-party purchaser" (Consent Order 09/29/2023, at A. 6.). This was more than a week prior to the District filing its complaint against JKHC on September 30, 2022. No evidence or indication was given in either proceeding below that the buyer intended to preserve VHH's affordability for low-income adults.

"Public policy encourages the drafting of settlement agreements; *if valid*, they are binding on the parties." (*Gabrielian v. Gabrielian*, 473 A.2d 847, 850 (D.C. 1984), emphasis added). For the reasons given below, Appellant alleges the court's approval of Appellees' invalid settlement agreement erroneously negated his right to enforce the trust obligations of JKHC including the requirements of cy pres, and / or Appellant's TOPA right to match the sale contract price and "taken as a whole, is so unfair on its face as to preclude judicial approval." (*Glicken v.*

Bradford, 35 FRD 144, 151 (1964)). Appellant relies on this Court's knowledge of its own standards of review and wisdom in their application.

A.) The Court Erred in Failing to Find Appellant's Standing

Appellant first challenged the lower court's error regarding his standing in his Motion for Reconsideration (below at Ex. B, p. 57-59).

It well understood that "Trial judges are presumed to know the law and to apply it in making their decisions." (*Walton v. Arizona*, 497 S. Ct. 639, 653 (1990)). What is remarkable about the lower court's reasoning in the District's case the total lack of discussion or even recognition of the facts and law Appellant put before it.

With reference to hearing transcripts excerpted below at Exhibits C and D, the trial court erred in failing to find that Appellant had standing to challenge JKHC's action to not preserve VHH for affordable housing under the District's Uniform Trust Code and relevant caselaw (cited in Exhibits A and B, below) as a JKHC "settlor" who, with others, created and/or contributed "property" to JKHC. Specifically, the court gave no reason for denying standing in either of its rulings on Appellant's motions in the District's case. In the Appellant's case, however, it found that,

Mr. Farina advocated for the formation of the Janet Keenan

Housing Corporation to purchase the property at 1304 Euclid Street, Northwest, and was a former board member of the nonprofit, he is not a creator. He is not a cocreator, incorporator, settlor, trustee, or current board member of the organization nor does he have a possessory interest in the property as those terms are understood under either the Uniform Trust Code or the Nonprofit Corporations Act. (Exhibit D, below, para. 8)

The court erred in concluding Appellant was not a settlor / creator of the JKHC charitable trust. DC Code defines a "Settlor" as "a person...who creates, or contributes property to, a trust" and "property" as "anything that may be the subject of ownership, whether real or personal, legal or equitable, or *any interest therein*. (19-1301.03(16) and (13), respectively, emphasis added.) Additionally, District Code defines "real property" as "every estate or *right*, legal or equitable, present or future, vested or contingent in lands, tenements, or hereditaments located in whole or in part within the District." (DC Code 42-1101(4)).

First, as recognized by the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit in *He Depu v. Yahoo! Inc.*, 950 F. 3d 897,901 (D.C. Cir 2020),

"the D.C. Court of Appeals has explained, the elements of a trust are: "1) a trustee, who holds the trust property and is subject to equitable duties to deal with it for the benefit of another; 2) a beneficiary, to whom the trustee owes such duties; [and] 3) the trust property, which is held by the trustee for the beneficiary." *Cabaniss v. Cabaniss*, 464

A.2d 87, 91 (D.C. 1983) (citing, inter alia, RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TRUSTS §§ 2, 23, 24, 32)... "As distinguished from a private trust, which is characterized by identified beneficiaries, ... in a charitable trust the obligation of the trustee is to apply the trust res for

some form of public benefit." <u>Hooker v. Edes Home</u>, 579 A.2d 608, 611 (D.C. 1990) (quoting BOGERT ON TRUSTS § 411). [2]

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