#### No. 23-CV-832 & 24-CV-45



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 08/30/2024 11:51 AM Filed 08/30/2024 11:51 AM

### PETER FARINA, Appellant,

V.

JANET KEENAN HOUSING CORPORATION, *et al.*, APPELLEES.

PETER FARINA, Appellant,

V.

JANET KEENAN HOUSING CORPORATION, APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM ORDERS OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

**BRIEF FOR APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA** 

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

\*LUCY E. PITTMAN Senior Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The sole issue that concerns the District in this consolidated appeal is whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying Farina's motion to intervene in the District's action against JKHC. The court did not abuse its discretion. Instead, the record shows that the trial court exercised sound discretion in denying Farina's motion to intervene because the motion suffered from multiple, independently fatal deficiencies.

*First*, as the trial court found, the motion was "patently untimely." Farina has failed to address this deficiency in his opening brief, and he has therefore forfeited any response. But even if not forfeited, the trial court's decision was not an abuse of discretion. Courts consider several factors to assess timeliness, including the time that has passed since the movant knew of his interest in the suit, the movant's reason for the delay, the current litigation stage, and any prejudice to the original parties or the movant. Here, Farina knew about this litigation from the outset and even participated in it. Yet he waited almost a year before seeking to intervene. Nor did he explain the reason for that delay to the trial court in his motion. And his belated

motion presented real prejudice to the parties. After almost a year of litigation and negotiations, the District and JKHC had reached a settlement. Delaying this matter to allow Farina to intervene put at real risk the settlement agreement and its goal of providing affordable housing to the residents of the Euclid property and the District.

*Second*, the trial court cited Farina's failure to attach a pleading to his motion to intervene or otherwise set forth a claim. This deficiency too is unaddressed in Farina's opening brief, and any argument is thus forfeited. But even if not, the trial court acted well within its discretion to require adherence to the rules of civil procedure. And Farina's motion itself cannot replace a pleading because, as the trial court found, it did not provide clarity on the claims he wanted to pursue.

In any event, even if his motion and its focus on the cy pres doctrine could be construed as a claim under the NCA, Farina lacked standing to pursue such a claim. The NCA limits persons who can bring actions against a nonprofit to the Attorney General, as well as directors, officers, or the corporation itself, and Farina is not among that list. Moreover, Farina's reliance on trust principles in his subsequent litigation against JKHC (filed after his intervention motion was denied) came far too late to justify standing to intervene.

*Third*, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Farina's interests were already represented in the litigation. Once again, Farina has forfeited any argument to the contrary by not addressing (or even mentioning) this issue in

12

his opening brief. But even if not, the record supports the trial court's finding. In cases where the government is acting on behalf of its citizens, as the District is here under the NCA, Farina must make a compelling showing that the District is not adequately representing his interests. He cannot make such a showing because the interests are the same: Farina asked the court to apply the cy pres doctrine to the disposal of JKHC's asset, and so did the District. Indeed, the District explicitly ensured that the settlement agreement was reached consistent with the cy pres doctrine and embedded that doctrine into the agreement itself. Farina's disagreement with the District's (and the Superior Court's) cy pres analysis does not establish that he had a unique interest. Anyway, that disagreement is based on a misunderstanding of JKHC's nonprofit purpose—which is to ensure affordable housing in the District, not to maintain the Euclid property specifically.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The Trial Court's Denial Of Farina's Request To Intervene Was Not An Abuse Of Discretion.

Super. Ct. Civ. R. 24 lists several requirements for intervention. The motion to intervene (1) must be "timely" and (2) "must state the grounds for intervention and be accompanied by a pleading that sets out the claim or defense for which intervention is sought." Super. Ct. Civ. R. 24(a), (c). In addition, the movant must establish an interest that is not already adequately represented by an original party.

Super. Ct. Civ. R. 24(a)(2). The trial court determines whether there is such an interest by considering:

(1) whether the person seeking to intervene "has an interest in the transaction which is the subject matter of the suit"; (2) whether "the disposition of the suit may as a practical matter impair his [or her] ability to protect that interest"; and (3) whether "his [or her] interest is adequately represented by existing parties."

*McPherson*, 833 A.2d at 994 (quoting *Calvin-Humphrey v. District of Columbia*, 340 A.2d 795, 798 (D.C. 1975)). Simply put, Farina did not meet those requirements. And each of his motion's deficiencies provides an independent reason to affirm the trial court's denial of his motion.

#### A. Farina's motion was "patently untimely."

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it rejected Farina's intervention motion as untimely. To begin, Farina has forfeited any challenge to the trial court's finding on timeliness. "[T]he 'judgment of any trial court is presumed to be valid [and thus a] losing party who notes an appeal from such a judgment bears the burden of convincing the appellate court that the trial court erred." *Lynch v. Ghaida*, No. 22-CV-0556, 2024 WL 3709712, at \*2 (D.C. Aug. 8, 2024) (quoting *Cobb v. Standard Drug Co.*, 453 A.2d 110, 111 (D.C. 1982)); *see* D.C. App. R. 28(a)(10) (requiring parties to include all arguments in the opening brief). Farina did not meet his burden of showing error. His opening brief does not challenge the trial court's determination or otherwise argue that his motion was timely.

Instead, his sole attempt to address timeliness was to incorporate his motion to reconsider into his brief. See Farina Br. 13 (directing this Court to his reconsideration motion to address "questions about the procedural defects or timeliness of his Motion to Intervene"). Such incorporations by reference, however, impermissibly force this Court to search for and develop an argument on appeal, and they are not sufficient to preserve an issue. See Comford v. United States, 947 A.2d 1181, 1188 (D.C. 2008) ("It is not enough merely to mention a possible argument in the most skeletal way, leaving the court to do [the party's] work."); Brown v. United States, 675 A.2d 953, 955 (D.C. 1996) (declining to consider arguments incorporated by reference). Indeed, federal appeals courts have "consistently and roundly condemned" such efforts to incorporate arguments by reference. United States v. Orrego-Martinez, 575 F.3d 1, 8 (1st Cir. 2009); see, e.g., Four Seasons Hotels & Resorts, B.V. v. Consorcio Barr S.A., 377 F.3d 1164, 1167 n.4 (11th Cir. 2004); Northland Ins. Co. v. Stewart Title Guar. Co., 327 F.3d 448, 452-53 (6th Cir. 2003) (collecting cases).<sup>3</sup> Moreover, Farina's motion to reconsider does not adequately

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Farina also seeks to incorporate several documents into his brief as a substitute for developing facts, contrary to D.C. App. R. 28(a)(8)'s requirement to include a statement of facts in the opening brief. *See* Farina Br. 12 ("incorporat[ing] by reference" the District's complaint against JKHC, Farina's motions to intervene and to reconsider, and the court's order denying the motion to intervene); Farina Br. 24 ("incorporat[ing] by reference" the September 29, 2023 Consent Order and certain excerpts from transcripts). In addition to violating the Court's rules on the contents of a brief, the incorporation also violates this Court's page limitations. *See* D.C.

address timeliness. He offered a conclusory statement that he "believes [the trial c]ourt erred in failing to find his Motion timely" and asked "so what," if the motion causes delay. Mot. to Reconsider 13, 14.

Even assuming that Farina did not forfeit any argument concerning timeliness, however, the trial court acted well within its discretion. To determine timeliness, the court should consider (1) the time that has passed since the movant knew or should have known of his interest in the suit; (2) the movant's reason for the delay; (3) the current litigation stage; and (4) any prejudice that the original parties would suffer from granting intervention and that the movant would suffer from denial. *Mokhiber v. Davis*, 537 A.2d 1100, 1104 (D.C. 1988); *Anderson v. D.C. Hous. Auth.*, 923 A.2d 853, 865-66 (D.C. 2007) (similar). Each factor confirms that the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

*First*, Farina was well aware of this litigation since its inception. He signed a multi-page declaration in support of the District's motion for a TRO, filed along with its complaint in October 2022. SA 47-69. Yet he filed his motion to intervene almost a year later, in July 2023. SA 77.

Second, Farina did not explain the reason for this delay. The motion's silence on this factor was raised by the parties in opposition, *see, e.g.*, D.C. Opp'n 6, yet

App. R. 32(a)(5) ("A principal brief may not exceed 50 pages."). For example, just the addition of the motion to reconsider adds 24 pages to Farina's opening brief, exceeding this Court's limit by 11 pages.

Farina did not address the delay in his reply. In short, he provided no justification to the trial court for waiting nine months before filing his motion.

*Third*, Farina's motion came as the parties to the litigation had completed discovery, conducted extensive settlement discussions, and were "on the eve of" announcing a settlement in principle. SA 77. "Intervention at that stage" would have "necessitate[d] an especially wasteful and duplicative expenditure of judicial resources." *Vale Properties, Ltd.*, 431 A.2d at 15. This is especially true, as discussed below, given Farina's failure to comply with Rule 24(c)'s pleading requirement. Pausing the resolution of this litigation to allow Farina time to clarify and develop a nebulous claim at such a late stage would have further delayed resolution of this matter.

*Fourth*, intervention on the eve of the parties' settlement "would unnecessarily delay the parties' ability to timely resolve this legal action," resulting in significant prejudice. SA 77. As Farina has never disputed, JKHC does not have the finances to continue operating as an affordable housing nonprofit. SA 94 (noting that JKHC cannot "maintain the property"). Thus, as the trial court explained, delaying these proceedings "would be highly prejudicial to all of the parties" and "contrary to the mission of preserving and promoting affordable housing in [the District]." SA 96. Delay would divert resources "into unnecessary litigation" and "diminish the remaining proceeds that are available" from the sale of the Euclid property "to promote affordable housing." SA 96.

Delay also puts at risk the future housing of the residents of the Euclid property—including Farina. The parties' settlement agreement provided for their continued housing and support. Pausing implementation of the settlement agreement, as JKHC runs out of funds, puts at risk whether any such support would be available when this case is finally resolved. This factor weighs heavily in support of denying Farina's motion.

In short, Farina's untimeliness and the court's finding of prejudice to the original parties was reason enough to deny his motion to intervene. And the trial court's decision was certainly not an abuse of discretion. This Court can affirm for that reason alone.

#### **B.** Farina's motion failed to set forth a claim.

In addition to untimeliness, Farina's motion also suffered from several procedural and substantive deficiencies that independently warranted denial. Rule 24(c) is explicit: the motion to intervene "must state the grounds for intervention and be accompanied by a pleading that sets out the claim or defense for which intervention is sought." Super. Ct. Civ. R. 24(c). The "proposed pleading accompanying a motion to intervene must generally comply with Super. Ct. Civ. R. 7(a), 8, and 10 dealing with pleadings." *Rothberg v. Quadrangle Dev. Corp.*, 646

18

A.2d 309, 313-14 (D.C. 1994). And this requirement is not merely a formality; it serves an important purpose, ensuring that "all parties understand the position, claims and nature of relief sought by the prospective intervenors." *Id.* at 314 (quoting *Sanders v. John Nuveen & Co.*, 463 F.2d 1075, 1082 (7th Cir. 1972)). Relatedly, the movant must show he has an interest in the litigation. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 24(a)(2). "The pleading should set up the interest of the movant just as the original complaint." *Rothberg*, 646 A.2d at 314.

1. Farina failed to attach a pleading or otherwise state a claim.

Farina's motion failed to fulfill a basic requirement of intervention: attaching "a pleading that sets out the claim . . . for which intervention [was] sought." Super. Ct. Civ. R. 24(c); SA 76.<sup>4</sup> To begin, as with timeliness, this Court need not consider the pleading requirement because Farina has failed in his opening brief to address it. This failure is an independent reason to affirm because Farina has not carried his burden of establishing that the trial court erred in denying his motion for lack of compliance with Rule 24(c), and he has forfeited any argument to the contrary. *See supra* at 14-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Farina also failed to certify that he had sought the parties' consent, as required by Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12-I. Along with being a mandatory requirement that aids the court in timely resolving motions, seeking consent also provides an opportunity for the parties to try to resolve disputes outside of litigation.

But even if not forfeited, Farina's failure to attach a pleading still supports affirmance. *First*, the rule is mandatory, and Farina undisputedly did not comply with it. *See* Super. Ct. Civ. R. 24(c) (the motion "*must* state the grounds for intervention and be accompanied by a pleading that sets out the claim or defense for which intervention is sought" (emphasis added)).

To be sure, a trial court has "discretion to grant a procedurally inadequate motion if no prejudice results." Rothberg, 646 A.2d at 314 n.17 (emphasis added). But where there is prejudice to the parties, the trial court "clearly may require adherence to the rules." Id.; see also Shevlin v. Schewe, 809 F.2d 447, 450 (7th Cir. 1987) ("We do not advocate a strict interpretation of the rule in all circumstances . . . but that does not mean that intervenors may totally ignore the rule, particularly where the original parties in the meantime work out a settlement to their lawsuit."). Here, there is clear prejudice to the parties. At the time of Farina's motion, the District and JKHC had worked out a settlement after almost a year of discovery and negotiations. Farina's belated request to intervene without a pleading stating his claims left the parties with little sense of what he intended to argue and how they might respond-and therefore, with little ability to respond to his intervention motion. His failure, therefore, could have resulted in even more delay and wasted resources within the 2022 Case. The trial court was well within its

authority to "require adherence to the rules" that Farina "totally ignore[d]." *Rothberg*, 646 A.2d at 314 n.17; *Shevlin*, 809 F.2d at 450.

Second, even if the court excused the procedural inadequacies and treated Farina's motion as a substitute for a pleading, the requirement to set forth a claim remains unmet because the motion did not have a clear statement of the claims he intended to pursue. SA 76. In this regard, Farina is similar to the movant in *Rothberg.* There, the court affirmed denial of a motion to intervene where the movant did not include a pleading and his filing "did not resemble a complaint or answer" because it did not adequately put the parties on notice of the claim. Rothberg, 646 A.2d at 314. By contrast, this case differs from Spring Construction Co. v. Harris, 614 F.2d 374, 377 (4th Cir. 1980), where a court permitted intervention despite failing to attach a pleading. There, the movant was allowed to intervene despite the lack of pleading because there was no prejudice to the parties, the "petition and accompanying affidavit . . . set forth sufficient facts and allegations to apprise" the parties of the movant's claims and the "failure to file an accompanying pleading was rectified when [the movant] filed its amended complaint shortly thereafter." 614 F.2d at 377.

Here, as the trial court explained, Farina's motion did "not set forth substantive legal grounds to permit his intervention." SA 76. Indeed, his motion failed even to "provide context or clarity concerning whether he seeks to intervene

21

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